#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DEC 21 1995

FIRD

ALVIN L. MORTON,

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By

Chief Deputy Clerk

Appellant,

Case No. 83,422

STATE OF FLORIDA,

VS.

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR PASCO COUNTY STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES MARION MOORMAN PUBLIC DEFENDER TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

STEVEN L. BOLOTIN Assistant Public Defender FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 236365

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P. 0. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33831 (813) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

## TOPICAL

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant, ALVIN L. MORTON, was the defendant in the trial court, and will be referred to in this brief as appellant or by name. Appellee, the State of Florida, was the prosecution and will be referred to as the state. The record on appeal will be referred to by use of the symbol "R". The trial transcript will be referred to by use of the symbol "T". All emphasis is supplied unless the contrary is indicated.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Alvin Morton, age 19, along with Robert Garner (17) and Timothy Kane (14), was charged'by indictment returned February 4, 1992 in Pasco County with first degree murder of John Bowers (Count One) and Madeline Weisser (Count Two) (R8-9). The three co-defendant were tried separately. After a trial held February 1-9, 1994, before Circuit Judge Craig C. Villanti and a jury, Morton was found guilty as charged on both counts (R184-85, T974-75). The jury recommended a death sentence by a vote of 11-1 (R194-95, T1377), and on March 18, 1994 the trial court imposed the death penalty (R198-99, 202-04, 656-66, 1114). Notice of appeal was filed on March 24, 1994 (R670, 678).

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

In the early morning of January 27, 1992, firefighters responding to a report of a structure fire, and police officers

acting on information provided by Lee Sowell, went to a residence at 6730 Sanderlin Drive in Hudson, where they discovered the bodies of John Bowers, age 55, and his mother Madeline Weisser, age 75 (T225-26, 229-30, 234-35, 239, see T568--69, 818, 830, 837). The fires, which appeared to have been set to mattresses in two bedrooms, were nearly out by the time the firemen got there (T232, 238, see T289-91). Based on the information received from Sowell, BOLOs were put out for Alvin Morton, Robert Garner, Chris Walker, and Tim Kane (T227).

Underneath Garner's mother's trailer, officers found a sawedoff shotgun and a knife, both wrapped in a blue towel (T443-45).
Garner, Walker, and Kane were arrested at that time (T495-96, 584, 788-89). A short while later, Morton was found hiding in the attic and he too was arrested (R480-81, 789-90).

Morton (appellant) was interviewed by Detective William Lawless, and he made a tape recorded statement. Appellant told Lawless that he had been with Hobby (Garner), Chris (Walker), Tim (Kane), and Mike (Rodkey) at Bobby's mom's trailer (T789-99). Lawless asked him what made them decide to go to this particular house, and appellant said "Nothing" (T798). Chris and Bob used to live on Sanderling, right next door to the house (T811). Appellant didn't remember if either one of them had mentioned anything about the house to him (T811).

When they got to the house, Tim cut the phone line with the knife (T799-800). Originally, everyone except Mike was planning to go in, but Chris stayed outside also (T801). Appellant kicked in

the front door, and he, Bob, and Tim went inside (T800-01). At that point, appellant had the shotgun and one of the others had the knife (T801-02). They began looking around the living room for something to take (T802). A guy came into the living room; appellant told him to get on the ground and he did (T802). Then the old lady came out and Bob told her to get down (T803). The man and the lady were asking them what they wanted, but they didn't tell them Bob hit the man in the head with a metal pipe (T804). (T803). Same time later, the man started to get up. Appellant told him to get down, but he didn't, so appellant shot him in the back of the head (T803-04). When the lady tried to get up, Bob kicked her in the ribs several times and stomped on her head (T804). Appellant put the knife to her neck and told her stay down. She didn't, so he tried to push the knife in, but it wouldn't go through (T804). Bob then stepped down hard on the knife and it went through (T805). Appellant told Lawless that he would have shot the lady instead of stabbing her, but the shell wouldn't go into the chamber (T814).

They searched the house some more, and then they left (T805). Before leaving, Bob cut off the man's pinky finger (T805-06). They went to Bob's house, where appellant wrapped the gun and the knife in a towel and threw them under the trailer (T806). The finger was wrapped in a bandanna; they took it to Jeff Madden's house and gave it to him "and he almost had a heart attack" (T806-07). [Appellant told Detective Lawless that one time before, Jeff had said he wanted someone's pinky (T809)]. On the way back to appellant's house, they went back to the house on Sanderlin Drive and tried to

set it on fire. Appellant lit the beds in both bedrooms with a lighter (T812). Then they returned to appellant's house and threw their clothes in the washer (T807).

Appellant told Detective Lawless that they didn't know whether the people were going to be home or not (T813). Asked whether they had made any "contingency plans" in a case they were home, appellant said "Nope" (T813). Lawless asked him why they didn't run when the people came out of the bedroom; appellant said he had no idea (T813). Lawless asked "What were you thinking?" Appellant answered '\*Probably wasn't, that's why we're in trouble" (T814).

The prosecution, seeking to show intent to burglarize the house, as well as premeditated design to kill the occupants, called numerous witnesses to testify as to statements purportedly made by appellant -- or by an unidentified member of the group¹ -- both before and after the crime. On January 27, 1992 -- the day after the crime -- and on February 3 and 4, 1992, several potential witnesses (including Angela Morton, Victoria Fitch, Chris Walker, Wayne Whitcomb, and Jeff Madden) had been interviewed by Assistant State Attorney Halkitis and Detective William Lawless (T790-91). Sworn statements were taken from these witnesses; the purpose, according to Detective Lawless, was "[s]o they could document this . . . while it was still fresh in their mind" and to prevent them from changing their testimony at a later date" (T791; see T790). At trial, Jeff Madden (T344-45, 350-52, 358-59), Chris Walker

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The statements in which the speaker could not be identified by the witness were introduced under the theory of "adoptive admissions." See Issue II, infra.

(T502-03, 511-17, 541-42, 587), Victoria Fitch (649-53), Angela Morton (appellant's sister) (T707-18, 727-30), and Mike Rodkey (T758-61, 764-65, 773-75) all were questioned on direct examination by the state about statements allegedly made by appellant in the days before the crime occurred, and on the day it occurred. In addition, Detective Brad Kokoris was called to testify as to what Angela Morton told him when he questioned her the day after the crime (T752-54). The state also examined Madden (T316-24, 329-38, 345-48), Walker (T544-50, 554-56), Wayne Whitcomb (T386-95, 399-405, 411-12), and Jason Pacheco (T294, 297-309, 311) about statements allegedly made at Madden's house when appellant, Garner, Walker, and Kane showed them the finger wrapped in the bandanna. A pattern developed at trial, which was repeated throughout the testimony of Angela Morton, Victoria Fitch, Chris Walker, Wayne Whitcomb, and Jeff Madden, where the prosecutor's questioning would

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Walker and Rodkey testified that they all rode their bikes to Sanderlin Drive and hid them in the bushes. They went into the vacant house across the street and talked about what they were going to do (T517-32, 764-67). [According to Rodkey the killings were planned, while Walker did not recall hearing what appellant and Bobby Garner were saying]. Neither Walker nor Rodkey went into the house at 6370 Sanderlin (T531-32, 769-70). Rodkey went home, while Walker met up with the others at an abandoned Circle K shortly afterward and accompaniedthemto Jeff Madden's (T539, 580, 772).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> After appellant, Garner, Walker, and Kane left Jeff Madden's, the three boys who remained phone Jason Pacheco's brother John and Lee Sowell. They came over, along with Kurt Butcher (T307, 334, 420). Sowell phoned appellant and asked him what happened, and appellant told him (T367-69, 385, 415-17, 420-26). Sowell, Butcher, and John Pacheco went looking for the house and eventually found it. They then went to a Jiffy Store and called 911 (T371-72, 416-18, 427).

track the witness's out-of-court statement,' and whenever the witness did not recall any aspect of it the prior statement would then be introduced. (See T323-25, 336, 391-93, 395, 399-400, 402, 404-405, 412, 593, 513, 515, 522-23, 534-34, 540-45, 548-49, 551, 553, 555, 562-64, 574-75, 602, 607-08, 612, 614-15,649-51, 706-11, 713, 715-17, 721, 725-29, 752). The prosecutor would frequently follow up by asking the witness if he or she was telling the truth in the prior statement, or whether the prior statement was accu-(See T330, 336, 400-03, 412, 515-16, 542, 550-51, 555, 575, rate. 606, 612, 614, 651, 710-11, 713, 722, 725-27). The defense objected continuously to the state's introduction of the prior statements and to its use of those statements as substantive evidence. (T325-28, 339-43, 392, 395-98, 502-10, 602-06, 650, 700-1, 713, 725-27, 729, 747-49, 752, 754, 868-69, 892-93, 920, 929, 936, 943, 1335. [Due to their length, the contents of the statements are set forth in Issue I, Part J., p38-79].

The associate medical examiner testified that John Bowers died as a result of a shotgun wound to the back of the neck (T831, 834-35). Death probably occurred within seconds after the gunshot (T835, 853). He had a bruise to the back of the head consistent

The prosecution introduced statements from the State Attorney's investigation (and the investigation by the Pasco County Sheriff's Office) made by all five of these witnesses -- Angela Morton (T704-17, 721-22, 725-29); Victoria Fitch (T650-51); Chris Walker (T502-03, 513-14, 548-50, 608); Wayne Whitcomb (T391-93, 400-03); and Jeff Madden (T323-24, 329-30, 335-36). The prosecution also introduced statements from depositions given by two of the same witnesses, Chris Walker (T522-25, 533-36, 541-48, 551-55, 562-64, 574-75, 602, 606-07, 611-15) and Wayne Whitcomb (T393-95, 399, 404-05).

with being hit with a pipe, and three facial cuts (T831-33). One of his little fingers had been cut off (T836). The cause of death of Madeline Weisser was eight stab wounds and two incised wounds to the neck (T841-42). She had sustained bruises to her face and body, and defensive cuts to her left hand (T837-39).

A firearms expert testified that when he examined the shotgun, there was a problem with the loading capacity of the magazine. The gun was capable of firing the round that had been loaded directly, into the chamber, but once that was fired other rounds would not be able to feed into the chamber (T684-85).

The fire marshal testified that the fires in the two bedrooms were set with a match or lighter. No accelerants or flammable liquids were used (T289-91).

The state introduced statements made by appellant to other inmates which were overheard by a transport officer and a corrections officer. Appellant told one inmate that he never would have gotten caught if he didn't brag about it (T825). He told the other inmate that when Bob (Garner) was kicking the old lady in the head, the old man turned and looked so appellant shot him. "I didn't have a choice, he looked" (T864-65).

Mike Rodkey testified that Chris Walker was the one who selected the house (T782). Walker denied ever saying these people should be killed, except "[p]erhaps jokingly way before" (T616-17). He may have mentioned that the people were well-off; they had a satellite dish and a pool (T569). Walker testified that he never said the people should be killed because they caught him swimming

in their pool and told on him (T617). On one occasion when Walker lived next door to them, John Bowers (while either intoxicated or not in his right state of mind,) approached Walker's mother and said "I'm a turkey and I'm going to gobble you up" (T567-68, 623-24). There was also an incident when Walker and Bobby Garner were playing ball and the ball went into Mr. Bowers' yard. He picked it up and took it inside (T624).

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The theory for admitting a prior inconsistent statement <u>as</u> <u>impeachment</u> "is not that the prior statement is true and the testimony in court is false, but that because the witness has not told the truth in one statement, the jury should disbelieve both statements." Ehrhardt, Florida Evidence, \$608.4 (1993 Ed.)-; see <u>Wingate v. New Deal Cab Company</u>, 217 So. 2d 612, 614 (Fla. 1st DCA 1969). Conversely, when the litigant seeks to persuade the trier of fact that the prior statement is true, he is using it as substantive evidence. Ellis v. State, 622 So. 2d 991, 996 (Fla. 1993).

In this case, over strenuous defense objection, the prosecutor, under the guise of impeaching his own witnesses, saturated the trial with improper and prejudicial hearsay. Morton's right to a fair trial, due process, and confrontation were destroyed by this tactic. In the vast majority of these instances, the introduction of the prior statement was not triggered by the witness giving testimony contrary to anything he or she had said earlier. Rather, the prosecutor's questioning would track the prior statement, and

whenever the witness did not recall any aspect of it -- down to the details -- the statement would then be read into evidence. Next the prosecutor would follow up by asking the witness if he ox she was telling the truth in the prior statement, or whether the prior statement was accurate. Also, the prosecutor repeatedly used these statements as substantive evidence (i.e., urging the jury that they were true) in his guilt phase and penalty phase closing arguments.

In sentencing appellant to death, the trial court erroneously found and instructed the jury on several aggravating factors, and arbitrarily and unreasonably minimized the proven mitigating factors.

#### ARGUMENT

#### ISSUE I

MORTON'S RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL WAS VIOLATED BY THE PROSECUTOR'S REPEATED INTRODUCTION OF THE OUT-OF-COURT STATEMENTS OF HIS OWN WITNESSES IN THE GUISE OF IMPEACHMENT, AND HIS USE OF THOSE STATEMENTS -- MOST OF WHICH WERE MADE DURING THE STATE ATTORNEY'S INVESTIGATION -- TO PROVE THE TRUTH OF THE MATTERS ASSERTED.

#### A. Introductory Statement

Over repeated and strenuous defense objection, the prosecutor, under the guise of impeadhing his own witnesses, saturated this trial with improper and prejudicial hearsay. Morton's rights to a fair trial, due process, and confrontation, guaranteed by the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> See T325-28, 339-43, 392, 395-98, 502-10, 602-06, 650, 700-01, 713, 725-27, 729, 747-49, 752, 754, 868-69, 892-93, 920, 929, 936, 943, 1335. At the beginning of the testimony of Angela Morton (whose direct examination was probably the most egregious example of the prosecution's tactic), the trial judge said "I've ruled on I've listened to thousands of objections, let's not approach the bench a thousand times. You can have a standing objection on that issue" (T701). Standing or continuing objections were also recognized by the trial court at T434, 604, 752, and 892-93. Note also that defense counsel not only objected to the introduction of the out-of-court statements, but alsotothe prosecutor's misuse of those statements. (See especially T892-93, 943-44, 1335). issue is fully preserved for review. See e.g. Haves v. State, So. 2d (Fla. 1995) [20 FLW S296, 297]; Hopkins v. State, 632 So. 2d 1372, 1376 (Fla. 1994); Thompson v. State, 615 So. 2d 737, 744 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993); Donaldson v. State, 369 So. 2d 691, 694 (Fla. 1st DCA 1979). See also Williams v. State, 619 So. 2d 487, 492 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993) (where trial judge acknowledged that defendant's objection had been made and noted, appellate court would not rule that the issue was not preserved for review; "to do so would be plainly contrary to the purpose underlying the requirement for contemporaneous objections before the trial court, i.e., to fully advise the trial court of the ground of the objection").

Florida and United States Constitutions, were effectively destroyed by this tactic. This can only be remedied by a new trial.

It is necessary to lay out in detail the state's presentation and use of the out-of-court statements, in order (1) to fully convey the pervasive effect of the prosecutor's overreaching upon the trial; (2) to show that the purported impeachment was merely a subterfuge for placing before the jury a plethora of otherwise inadmissible and highly damaging hearsay statements; (3) to demonstrate that the prosecutor constantly used these statements not to show that his witnesses were unworthy of belief (i.e., as impeachment), but rather to prove the truth of the matters asserted in the out-of-court statements (i.e., as substantive evidence); and (4) to show that since the improper impeachment was such a feature of the prosecution's trial strategy, the state's appellate arm cannot now meet its burden of showing beyond a reasonable doubt that its tactic could not have contributed to the jury's guilt phase and penalty phase verdicts. [For reasons of organization, the evidence, the objections and grounds, and the jury arguments pertaining to this issue are set forth comprehensively in Part J of this Point on Appeal].

The main disputed issues in this trial were premeditation, intent to commit a felony, and (in the penalty phase) the coldness and "careful plan or prearranged design" elements of the CCP aggra-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Art. I, Secs. 9, 16, Fla. Const.; Amends. V, VI and XIV, U. S. Const.

<sup>7</sup> See Rogers v. State, 511 So. 2d 526, 533 (Fla. 1987).

vating circumstance. While appellant, in his taped statement to Detective Lawless, admitted breaking into the house and killing the two occupants, his description of what happened -- a break-in of a house which they weren't sure was occupied or unoccupied, followed by unplanned, spur-of-the-moment homicides' -- differed markedly from the picture of coldly prearranged murders which the state sought to portray, largely by means of introducing the out-of-court statements of teenage witnesses Angela Morton, Victoria Fitch, Chris Walker, Wayne Whitcomb, and Jeff Madden.' (See T324, 336, 392-93, 395, 402, 405, 503, 513, 523, 534, 535, 542, 544-45, 549, 551, 553, 555, 562-64, 574-75, 602, 607-08, 612, 614-15, 650-51, 706, 708-11, 713, 715, 721, 725-29, 752-54). In the vast majority of these instances, the introduction of the prior statement was not triggered by the witness giving testimony contrary to anything he Rather, the prosecutor's questioning or she had said earlier. would track the prior statement, and whenever the witness did not recall any aspect of it -- down to the details -- the statement would then be read into evidence. (See T323, 391, 399-400, 402, 404, 412, 515, 522, 540-41, 543-44, 548, 551, 553, 607, 649-50, 707, 710-13, 715-17, 725-28). Then the prosecutor would follow up by asking the witness if he or she was telling the truth in the prior statement, or whether the prior statement was accurate. (See

<sup>8</sup> See T798-99, 802-04, 808, 811, 813-14.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> These witnesses, at the time of the crime and at the time they were questioned during the State Attorney's investigation (two years before the trial) were 17, 17, 16, 14, and 16, respectively (T701, 647, 493, 386, 312).

T330, 336, 400-03, 412, 515-16, 542, 550-51, 555, 575, 606, 612, 614, 651, 710-11, 713, 722, 725-27). Also -- over objections and motion for mistrial -- the prosecutor used these statements as proof of the assertions made therein (i.e., as substantive evidence) both in his guilt phase and penalty phase closing arguments to the jury. (See T892-93, 915-16, 919-20, 922-23, 936, 943-44, 1335-36, 1348). See Ellis v. State, 622 So. 2d 991, 996 (Fla. 1993).

## B. The **Purpose** of Impeachment With a Prior Inconsistent Statement

The theory for admitting a prior inconsistent statement <u>as</u> <u>impeachment</u> "is not that the prior statement is true and the testimony in court is false, but that because the witness has: not told the truth in one statement, the jury should disbelieve both statements," Ehrhardt, Florida Evidence, S608.4 (1993 Ed.); see <u>Winqate v. New Deal Cab Company</u>, 217 So. 2d 612, 614 (Fla. 1st DCA 1969). Conversely, when the litigant seeks to persuade the trier of fact that the prior statement is true, he is using it as substantive evidence. Ellis v. State, 622 So. 2d at 996.

# C. Impeachment as a **Subterfuge** to Get Inadmissible Out-of-Court Statements Before the **Jury** for Their Substance

Historically, attacks on the credibility of a witness were permitted only by the party against whom the witness' testimony was offered. This rule -- sometimes called the "voucher rule" -- has fallen into disfavor. By 1986, at least 33 states had either

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