IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ALVIN L. MORTON,

Appellant,

vs..

STATE OF FLORIDA,


Appellee.

FILED

SID J. WHITE

MAR 29 1996

Case No.: 83,422

CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By 
Chief Deputy Clerk

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH
ATTORNEY GENERAL

CANDANCE M. SABELLA
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar ID No.: 0445071
2002 North Lois Avenue
Suite 700
Westwood Center
Tampa, Florida 33607
(813) 873-4739

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

The state then presented the testimony of Jeff Madden. Madden similarly testified that Morton and this group came to Madden's house. Morton cleared the room and pulled a bandana out of his pocket and showed the three of them Mr. Bowers severed pinky finger, stating, "I brought **you** what **you** wanted." (T 3 18) Morton then told them about the murders. Morton said, "It was so cool. I blew the bitch's brains out. " (T 320) Madden testified that Morton told them

about kicking in the door and that Morton was laughing while he was telling about the murders. At that point the prosecutor, Michael Halkitis, asked Madden, "What else did Morton tell you?" and Madden replied, "I'm not sure." Mr. Halkitis offered Madden an opportunity to review a specific portion (line 10, page 34) of his statements made under oath on January 27, 1992, the day after the murder to refresh his recollection. (T321) Madden reviewed it, stated that it refreshed his recollection and testified that they somehow **kicked** in the door. Madden then could not recall why they kicked in the door and was once again offered his statement (line 13 - 24) to refresh his recollection. He then testified Morton said he kicked in the door, woke the people up, got them to the floor, and put a gun to the back of the man's head, (T 322) The man started telling him that, why are you doing this, what did we do to deserve this. Madden then said he didn't remember why Morton had said he was doing it. Morton told him he pulled the trigger after the man said his mother would write a check and that they wouldn't call the cops. (T 323) Madden was not sure whether Morton had said he'd done it for the "hell of it or the fun of it." Mr. Halkitis then read the relevant portion of Madden's statement. Defense counsel objected. The objection was overruled and the jury was given a cautionary instruction that the evidence was for impeachment purposes only and was not substantive evidence. (T 329) Madden then testified that his recollection was better back then and that the prior statement was true. (T 330)

This statement was properly admitted. Furthermore, when considered in context, the statement was clearly not prejudicial. Both Pacheco and Madden testified that Morton was laughing while he was telling about the murders. Furthermore, Michael **Rodkey** testified that Morton told him they were going to break in the house, kill the people, and then hang around, watch the Superbowl, and eat their food and stuff. The import of this unchallenged **testimony** is

that Morton was committing the murders for the “fun” of it.

Morton also complains about Madden further being questioned about a statement he made during the investigation. Madden testified during a subsequent telephone conversation Morton told him there were brains and pools of blood he had to jump over and that Chris Walker had set the home’s sheets on fire. To impeach this statement the state referred Madden to his sworn statement where he had said that Morton claimed responsibility for setting the fire. This testimony was admissible as a prior inconsistent statement. Assuming, arguendo, it is error, it was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt as appellant confessed to setting the sheets on fire. (T 812) Madden then testified, without challenge, that Morton had told him on the prior Friday that he wanted to kill someone at the house on the street where Lee **Sowell** used to live [Sanderling Drive] and that Morton gave Madden the pinky finger because he’d asked for it. (T 349)

Wayne Whitcomb

After Jason Pacheco and Jeff Madden had already testified about the statements made by Morton at Madden’s house on January 26, 1992, the state called Wayne Whitcomb. Thus, Wayne **Whitcomb** was the third witness for the state that testified about Morton’s joyful recollection of the double homicide. On appeal Morton challenges the admission of the following for impeachment purposes: 1) whether Morton had said anything about the elderly lady; 2) whether Morton said he’d shot the man; 3) whether Morton had said he killed the woman; 4) whether Morton had said what happened to the finger; and 4) whether Morton had told Madden he **got** the finger for him, This evidence was proper impeachment evidence. Furthermore, the **state** presented considerable substantive evidence, including Morton’s own confession that established Morton had made the statements as well as committing the acts. Morton confessed to **shooting**

the man in the back of the neck and stabbing the woman in the neck. (T 803-05) Pacheco and Madden testified that Morton told them he killed both people. (T 299-301, 320-22) Morton also confessed to wrapping the pinky **finger** in a bandanna and giving it to Jeff Madden because he'd asked for it. (T 806-7, 809) Chris Walker testified that Morton handed him the pinky after he got it back from Madden. Walker then threw it and the bandanna in the canal. (T 586) Sheriff's diver Wanda11 Everett testified that he retrieved the bandanna out of the canal, but could not **find** the finger. (T 438) In light of the fact that the jury heard this same evidence from numerous witnesses and was clearly instructed that this evidence was for impeachment purposes and not substantive evidence, error, if any, was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

Chris Walker

Chris Walker used to be neighbor of the victims. Walker testified that he helped plan the burglary on Sanderling and that he went with the group to Sanderling drive. **Rodkey** and Walker left as the rest of the group broke into the **Bowers/Weisser** house. Walker then met up with the group after the murders and went with them to Madden's. (T 499, 501, 502, 518, 521, 525, 526, 527, 531)

On appeal Morton challenges the states use of Walker's prior inconsistent statements to establish the following:

1) Whether they were planning a robbery as he had told Detective Lawless versus a burglary as he; In Morton's confession he stated that as soon as they got into the house they began looking around for something to take. (T802) He also told **Rodkey** that he was going to kill the people and that they might take something if they had **anything to take**. (T 773) Thus, there was plenty of evidence that Morton had the **intent to commit a robbery**. **More,**

importantly, there was substantially more evidence that Morton planned to commit murder first and foremost.

2) What Walker meant by cash or easy money when he testified that they were after valuables, but not cash or easy money; A plan to kick in the door to a house, kill the occupants therein and take valuables or cash, is sufficient to establish an intent to commit a robbery. In any case, Walker's testimony established the intent to commit murder.

3) Whether Walker heard Morton say he was "sick and tired of playing around" or "I'm going to get something" as he had testified to during his deposition versus his trial testimony that Morton and Garner were whispering on the other side of the porch and he could not hear them; Walker's reluctance to testify or absence of memory on this point merely absolved Walker, not Morton, of guilt in the instant case. Clearly, Morton had made similar statements and plans prior to the conversation on the porch.

4) Whether he saw Morton kick in the door as he testified to during his deposition; On cross examination, Walker reaffirmed that he was "80 percent sure" that Morton had kicked in the door. (T 633)

5) Whether he had heard the gunshot as he was running toward his bike versus hearing it from across the canal as he recalled stating in his deposition; Rodkey testified that he and Walker heard the gunshot when they rode their bikes over to the next street. (T 771) In either case they heard the gunshot. There certainly is no question that the gun was shot, Mr. Bowers died as a result of the shotgun firing and Morton told several people that he was the one who fired it.

6) Whether there was a discussion about wearing bright colors as he testified to during his deposition; Again even without this statement there was substantial evidence that Morton preplanned these murders; in addition to the numerous conversations and the excluded evidence of the prior attempt, Morton brought the weapons and the extra ammunition to commit the unprovoked murders of two helpless victims, sleeping in their own home.

7) Whether Garner had the knife or, as he testified to during his deposition, Morton had the gun and the knife; After being offered his deposition to review to himself, Walker was able to testify from his own recollection that Morton had the gun and knife wrapped in the blue towel. (T525-27) Furthermore, everyone agreed that Morton brought both weapons and even Morton admitted that he had the knife when he stabbed the seventy-five-year-old woman in the back of the neck. (T 389, 762, 804)

8) Whether Walker recalled Morton saying “I did it, I did it. I blew the old fucker’s head off” as he testified to during his deposition; Morton told Detective Lawless, Jeff Madden, John and Jason Pacheco, Wayne Whitcomb, and Lee Sowell that he’d killed Mr. Bowers. (T299-301, 369, 389, 803) Even Walker testified that Morton had said something to that effect. (T 548)

9) Whether they were bragging about the killings; Appellant’s defense to the admissions he made, and is challenging on appeal, is that he was a braggart. (See, Issue 2, *infra.*) Counsel repeatedly questioned witnesses as to whether Morton had a tendency to brag, so the admission of this statement was clearly harmless, if not helpful to the defense.

10) the content of Morton’s threat that he knew where Walker’s grandparents live as testified to during Walkers deposition on September 21, 1993; Prior to the prosecutor

showing Walker his prior statement Walker testified that Morton told him to come with him, that he knew where Walker's grandmother lived. (T 551) After being shown the statement Walker testified that he felt like Morton was threatening him. The statement offered to either impeach or refresh merely assisted Walker in recalling the events and, therefore, allowing him to testify from his own memory.

11) Whether he saw the gun and knife when they hid the bikes on Garner's porch. as he testified in the deposition; Walker subsequently testified, in response to another question, that Morton was wrapping the gun or the knife, or both, in the blue towel when they got to Garner's house. (T 554) Walker had previously testified that they hid the bikes on Garner's porch (T 553)

12) Whether Morton was giggling when they showed Madden the finger as he testified to during his deposition; Walker was presented with his prior statement and he agreed that it was accurate and that was what had happened Walker specifically stated, "Yes, sir. And the only laughing is coming out of Alvin Morton at that point in time. It was a very small giggle, it stopped very shortly. (T 575) This was also one of those facts that everyone pretty much agreed on, (T 320, 333,404)

13) Whether Walker was at Century 21 when he went back to set the fire. as he testified to during his deposition; Regardless of where Walker was when Morton went back to set the fire, Morton repeatedly admitted that he had set the fire. (T 812)

14) Whether Morton had said anything about hiding the weapons as Walker stated during his deposition. When Walker was presented with his prior statement, he said that it had refreshed his recollection and that it was true. (T 614)

As the foregoing review shows, the challenged testimony was largely a result of the witnesses' recollection being properly refreshed and his affirmation that the prior statement was correct. Regardless, each of these facts were well established and did not result in any prejudice to the defendant.

Victoria Fitch

During her testimony Miss Fitch admitted being a friend of Appellant's sister, Angela Morton, and through her knowing the rest of the group. (T 647-8) She remembered being in a car with Angela and Alvin Morton when Morton said he wanted to kill someone, seeing the sawed-off shotgun with white tape, and seeing Morton with the knife. (T 652-54) The prosecutor's presentation of her prior statement was proper and, apparently, refreshed her recollection as she was able to testify to the foregoing from her own recollection.

Angela Morton

Angela Morton is appellant's sister. Although she had apparently given a complete statement during the State Attorney investigation, once she realized the consequences testifying against her brother she was very reluctant to admit anything either at trial or previously in her deposition. The fact that the state was on notice that she was a reluctant witness, is of no import. As previously noted, the rule no longer requires surprise or prejudice before a party can impeach his or her own witness. This situation is analogous to this Court's decision in Freeman v. State, 547 So. 2d 125 (Fla. 1989), where this Court rejected Freeman's contention that the trial court erred by declaring his stepbrother a hostile witness and by permitting the state to impeach him and bolster his testimony with prior consistent statements. This Court held that where the witnesses' responses indicated more than a mere lapse of memory, that the stepbrother was being **both**

difficult and recalcitrant in responding to inquiry, that the trial judge did not abuse his discretion in declaring the stepbrother a hostile witness. No prejudicial error was committed during the questioning of this witness. Freeman.

As the foregoing review shows, no error was committed in the introduction of the **out-of-court** statements. Accordingly, appellant had a fair trial which correctly resulted in a guilty verdict and a sentence of death. Furthermore, error if any is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. In State v. Clark, 614 **So.2d** 453 (Fla. 1992), this Court held:

Neither Basiliere nor Brown, however, considered whether a harmless-error analysis could be applied to using a discovery deposition as substantive evidence. In State v. DiGuilio, 491 **So.2d** 1129, 1134 (Fla. 1986), we stated "that constitutional errors, with rare exceptions, are subject to harmless error analysis, " and adopted the harmless-error test from Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18, 87 S.Ct. 824, 17 **L.Ed.2d** 705 (1967), i.e., "the burden [is] on the state, as the beneficiary of the error, to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the error complained of did not contribute to the verdict or, alternatively stated, that there is no reasonable possibility that the error contributed to the conviction." DiGuilio, 491 **So.2d** at 1135. The United States Supreme Court has held that violations of the Confrontation Clause are subject to a harmless-error analysis. Coy v. Iowa, 487 U.S. 1012, 108 **S.Ct.** 2798, 101 **L.Ed.2d** 857 (1988); Delaware v. Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. 673, 106 **S.Ct.** 1431, 89 **L.Ed.2d** 674 (1986). As stated in Van Arsdall: "The harmless-error doctrine recognizes the principle that the central purpose of a criminal trial is to decide the factual question of the defendant's guilt or innocence and promotes public respect for the criminal process by focusing on the underlying fairness of the trial rather than on the virtually inevitable presence of immaterial error. " 475 U.S. at 681, 106 **S.Ct.** at 1436 (citation omitted). We agree with this statement and answer the certified question in the affirmative.

State v. Clark, 614 **So.2d** at 454,

In the instant case, where the impeachment evidence was properly admitted and not used

to support the conviction and where the state presented overwhelming substantive evidence of appellant's guilt, including appellant's own confession that he killed both victims, error, if any, was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. **cf.**, Wallace v. Rashkow, 270 So. 2d 743 (Fla. 3 DCA 1972). Accordingly, this Court should affirm appellant's convictions for the murders of John Bowers and Madeline Weisser.

ISSUE II.

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN ADMITTING CONVERSATIONS BETWEEN THE CO-PERPETRATORS AS ADOPTIVE ADMISSIONS.

Appellant also contends that the trial court erred in admitting into evidence testimony regarding conversations between the co-perpetrators as “adoptive admissions”. He contends that the statements in question were not admissible as “adoptive admissions” because the statements were not the type a person would normally deny. It is the state’s position that the admission of the testimony was within the trial court’s discretion and appellant has failed to show an abuse of that discretion. Furthermore, a review of the record shows that as a whole the witnesses specifically recalled that Morton was the dominant speaker during the conversations and were able to attribute specific inculpatory statements to him

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